Aktif Yatirim Bankasi
Anonim Sirketi
and Its Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the year ended
31 December 2015 with
Independent Auditor’s Report Thereon



D I I tt
e OI e DRT Bagimsiz Denetim ve

Serbest Muhasebeci
Mali Musavirlik A.S.
Maslak no1 Plaza

Eski Blytikdere Caddesi
Maslak Mahallesi No:1
Maslak, Sariyer 34398
Istanbul, Turkiye

Tel : +90 (212) 366 6000
Fax : +90 (212) 366 6010
www.deloitte.com.tr

Mersis No: 0291001097600016
Ticari Sicil No : 304099

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors of
Aktif Yatirim Bankas1 Anonim Sirketi

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Aktif Yatirim Bankasi Anonim
Sirketi and its subsidiaries (the “Group™), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2015, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statements of changes in equity, and consolidated statements of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our qualified audit opinion.

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, a UK private company limited by guarantee (“DTTL"), its network of member firms, and their related
entities. DTTL and each of its member firms are legally separate and independent entities. DTTL (also referred to as “Deloitte Global”) does not provide services to clients.
Please see www.deloitte.com/about for a more detailed description of DTTL and its member firms.

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited



Deloitte.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

The consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2015 consist of a general provision amounting
to TL 15,000 thousand provided by the Bank management for the possible result of the negative
circumstances which may arise from any changes in the economy or market conditions. If the mentioned
general provision were not provided, the other provisions would decrease by TL 15,000 thousand,
retained earnings would increase by TL 5,000 thousand and net profit for the period would decrease by
TL 10,000 thousand as at 31 December 2015.

Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
paragraph, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2015, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Matter

As described in Note 35, the Bank has provided significant portion of cash and non-cash loans to its

related parties (“Calik Group Companies™) as at 31 December 2015. Our opinion is not qualified in
respect of this matter.

DRT BA Glad Iz JEWET Y Sotntnr A S

DRT BAGIMSIZ DENETIM VE SERBEST MUHASEBECI MALI MUSAVIRLIK A.S.
Member of DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU LIMITED

Istanbul, 3 May 2016
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AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONiM SIRKETI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2015

(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Liva (“TL"))

31 December 31 December

Note 2015 2014

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents g 451,605 286,470
Reserve deposits at Central Bank 10 685,604 497,612
Trading assets 11 9,271 4,251
Trade and other receivables 100,308 15,135
Inventories 14,498 12,237
Loans and advances to customers 13 4,638,261 3,983,292
Investment securities 12 930,741 887,838
Equity accounted investees 14 12,741 11,226
Tangible assets 15 231,719 193,608
Intangible assets 16 123,930 103,137
Goodwill 7 504 504
Deferred tax assets 22 7,039 12,275
Assets held for sale 18 - 69,868
Other assets 17 350,428 174,374
Total assets 7,556,649 6,251,827
LIABILITIES _
Trading liabilities 11 0,848 2,510
Trade and other payables 130,340 35,085
Obligations under repurchase agreements 19 478,027 193,677
Financial lease liabilities 39,485 40,223
Debt securities issued 21 2,619,947 3,008,118
Funds borrowed 20 2,508,185 1,509,958
Provisions 23 36,692 29,983
Income taxes payable 22 3,494 -
Deferred tax liability 22 10,412 9,883
Other liabilities 24 840,004 535,786
Total liabilities 6,676,734 5,365,223
EQUITY
Share capital 25 867,095 701,595
Legal reserves 25 20,007 15,970
Unrealised gains/(losses) on available-for-sale assets (21,909 5,967
Actuarial gain/ (loss) (908) (500)
Translation reserves (5,127) (755)
Retained earnings 15,436 159,870
Total equity attributable to

equity holders of the Bank 874,594 882,147
Non-controlling interests 3,321 4,457
Total equity 879,915 886,604
Total liabilities and equity 7,556,649 6,251,827

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

1



AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SIRKETI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

As at 31 December 2015
(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL"))

Note 2015 2014
Interest income 26 690,729 560,976
Interest expense 26 (383,331) (322,354)
Net interest income 307,398 238,022
Fees and commission income 27 01,818 58,098
Fees and commission expense 27 {32,670) (24,235)
Net fee and commission income 59,148 33,863
Net trading loss 28 (3,932) (10,654)
Sales income 29 215,848 88,833
Other income 30 45,545 46,105
Net impairment loss on financial assets 13,31 (10,087) 1,574
Operating expenses (324,891) (249,165)
- Personnel expenses 32 (168,629) (125,888)
~Depreciation and amortisation 15,16 (32,190) (17,034)
-Other operating expenses 33 (124,072) (106,243)
Cost of sales - (66)
Cost of services 29 (198,217) (100,930}
Other operating expenses 34 (40,332) (7,438)
Total operating income 50,480 40,744
Share of profit of equity accounted investee 14 1,640 695
Profit before income tax 52,120 41,439
Income tax expense 22 (26,153) (7,714)
Net profit for the year from continuing operations 25,967 33,725
Profit attributable to
Equity holders of the Bank 25,103 33,700
Non-controlling interest 864 25
Profit for the year 25,967 33,725
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: (408) (633)
Change in actuarial (loss) / gain related to employee benefits (537) (791)
Tax effect 22 129 158
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: (32,248) 16,014
Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets (34,716) 22,458
Foreign currency translation differences (4,372) (1,952)
Tax effect 22 6,840 (4,492)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (32,650) 15,381
Total comprehensive income for the year {6,689) 49,106
Total comprehensive income attributable to: ‘
Equity holders of the Bank (7,553) 49,081
Non-controlling interest 864 25
Total comprehensive income for the year {6,689) 49,106

The accompanying notes are an integfal part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SIRKETI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL"})

Note 2015 2014
Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit for the year 25,967 33,725
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangibie assets 15,16 39,477 37,597
Impairment on intangible assets 16 5,208 4,126
Retirement pay provision expense 23 1,536 2,206
Unused vacation provision expense (951) 2,553
Bonus provision expense 8,585 (639)
Impairment cn financial assets 31 10,087 (1,574)
Net interest income and expense (344,784) 1 (227,313)
Share of profit of equity investee 14 (1,640) (695)
{Reversal) / provision for possible losses 10,000 (27,000)
Unrealised foreign exchange loss / (gain) (52,372) (70,287)
Other accruals 4,847 (16,025)
Income tax 22 26,153 7,714
(267,797) (255,612)
Change in reserve deposit at Central Bank (187,992) (198,313)
Change in trading assets 1,880 499
Change in loans and advances to customers (514,540} (476,601)
Change in other assets (192,803) (42,472)
Change in obligations under repurchase agreements 284,207 (344,724)
Proceeds from borrowings 958,052 448,670
Change in other liabilities 411,024 41,429
759,828 (571,512)
Interest received 657,081 587,200
Interest paid (409,908) (338,989
Retirement pay provision and unused vacation paid 23 (1,904) (444)
Bonus payment (16,066) -
Income tax paid 22 (12,948) (26,500)
Net cash used in operating activities 216,255 221,267
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investment securities (4,886,804) (2,967,021)
Sale of investment securities 4,815,158 2,753,858
Purchase of tangible assets 15 (68,704) (31,530)
Equity accounted investees 14 (4,137) (3,025)
Proceeds from the sale of tangible assets 27,086 1
Purchase of intangible assets 16 (46,726) (53,174)
Acquisition of subsidiaries - {12,455)
Net cash used in investing activities (164,127) (313,346)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from debt securities issued 8,823,073 8,452,597
Repayment of debt securities issued (9,200,518) (7,448,953)
Change in financial lease liabilities (1,943) 5,699
Net cash provided from financing activities (379,388) 1,009,343
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 164,771 90,140
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash 130 (114)
Cash and cash equivalents on 1 January 9 286,459 196,433
Cash and cash equivalents on 31 December 9 451,369 286,459

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SIRKETI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statemenits
As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015

(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL"))

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SIRKETi AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015

(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Liva (“TL"’))
Reporting entity

Aktif Yatirim Bankas: Anonim Sirketi (the “Bank™) was incorporated under the name of Calik Yatirim
Bankasi A.S. in Turkey in July 1999. The Bank changed its name as Aktif Yatirim Bankasi A.S. on 1
Aungust 2008.

The Bank operates as an “investment bank™ and is mainly involved in corporate and consumer
services such as cash or non-cash, financial leasing, factoring, corporate lending. As an investment
bank, the Bank borrows funds from other banks, financial markets, partners and credit customers but
is not entitled to receive deposits from customers.

The head office of the Bank is located at Biiyiikdere Cad. No: 163/A Zincirlikuyu / Istanbul, and the
Bank have also eight branches. The Bank employs 634 people as at 31 December 2015 (31 December
2014: 784).

The Bank and its subsidiaries are hereafter referred to as the “Group”.

The Group controls equity stakes in companies that are active in the areas of technology system
integration, payment centre, insurance brokerage, consulting in real estate projects, real estate, islamic
financial leasing and electronic payment systems. Activities carried out in these business areas and
main companies are explained below in summary.

Sigortayeri Sigorta ve Reasiirans Brokerlidi A.S. (“Sigortayeri™): With the virtual and physical multi-
channel structure that is shaped according to the needs of potential policyholders comparative
insurance products, provide customers with fast and intuitive way to operate in the field of insurance
broking,

EPost Elektronik Perakende Otomasyon Satig Ticaret A.S. (“EPost™): EPost allocated to business with
the brand through reliable/secure devices, sales and collection operations for making the dealership
system.

E-Kent Teknoloji ve Odeme Sistemleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.S. (“E-Kent”): E-Kent increases both the

new products and services applied in the field and also the number of cities in which services are
offered in its fields of operation with its vision which is “building city technologies”.

Pavo Teknik Servis Elektrik Elektronik Sanayi ve Ticaret A.S. (“Pavo”): Pavo operates in the area of
new generation payment systems (especially ECR business); import, manufacture sales and technical
services.

N Kolay Magazacilik A.S. (“N Kolay”): N Kolay operates in the area of invoice payment point and
payment services licence obtained from Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency in 20135.

Asset Aktif Sportif ve Sanatsal Etkinlik Hizmetleri Ticaret A.S. (“Asset”): Asset operates in the area
of ticket sale organization of sports and arts activities. :

Emlak Girisim Danismanlig1 A.S. (“Emlak Girisim”): Emlak Girisim works on real estate projects,
structures and systems, and makes active counselling and guidance. '

IFM Istanbul Finans Merkezi Insaat Taahhiit A.S. (“IFM™): IFM operates in special projects, land

recreation, area sales and revenue sharing provisions for the construction of the immovable,
construction and sales activity is independent sections.

Kazakhstan ljara Company Jsc. (“KIC”): Kazakhstan Ijara Company carries on islamic leasing
business. The aim of firm in Kazakhstan is to support the development of small and medium
enterprises (SMEs) by providing alternative sources of Shariah compliant financing for their projects. _

Euroasian Leasing Company (“ELC™): Euroasian Leasing Company is the first in Russia to provide
leasing solutions to the SME sector in accordance with the Islamic principles.

UPT Odeme Hizmetleri A.S. (“UPT”): UPT operates for electronic money and money transfer and
payment services licence obtained from Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency in 2015.

Euro Mediterianean Investment Company (EMIC): EMIC is a portfolio management company.
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AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONiM SIRKETI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015

(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL"))

Basis of preparation
Statement of compliance

The Bank and its subsidiaries operating in Turkey maintain their books of account and prepare their
statutory consolidated financial statements in Turkish Lira (“TL”) in accordance with the accounting
principles as promulgated by the Banking Regulation and Supervision Agency (“BRSA”), Capital
Markets Board of Turkey, the Turkish Commercial Code and tax legislation. The foreign subsidiaries
maintain their books of account in accordance with the laws and regulations in force in the countries in
which they are registered.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and its interpretations adopted by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB™).

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis as adjusted for

the effects of inflation, except for the following;

= derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value
= financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value
= available-for-sale financial instruments

Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in TL, which is the Bank’s functional currency.
Except as indicated, financial information presented in TL has been rounded to the nearest thousand.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the consolidated
financial statements are described in notes 4.
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AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SiRKETi AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015
(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL"))

Significant accounting policies
Accounting in hyperinflationary economies

The consolidated financial statements of the Turkish entities have been restated for the changes in the
general purchasing power of the Turkish Lira based on International Accounting Standard (“IAS™)
No. 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies™ as at 31 December 2005. IAS 29
requires that consolidated financial statements prepared in the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy be stated in terms of the measuring unit current on the reporting date, and that corresponding
figures for prior periods be restated in the same terms. One characteristic that necessitates the
application of IAS 29 is a cumulative three-year inflation rate approaching or exceeding 100%. The
cumulative three-year inflation rate in Turkey has been 35.61% as at 31 December 2005, based on the
Turkish nation-wide wholesale price indices announced by the Turkish Statistical Institute
(“TURKSTAT”). By taking this into consideration, together with the sustained positive trend in
quantitative factors, such as the stabilisation in financial and monetary markets, decrease in interest
rates and the appreciation of TL against USD and other hard currencies, it was declared that Turkey
should be considered a non-hyperinflationary economy under IAS 29 from 1 January 2006 as stated in
International Standards Alert No. 2006/17 issued on 8 March 2006. Therefore, IAS 29 has not been
applied to the accompanying consolidated financial statements starting from 1 January 2006.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in the financial statements of the Group are recorded in TL, which is the Group’s
functional currency and the presentation currency for the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the Group
at exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into TL at the exchange rates ruling at date of the statement of
financial position with the resulting exchange differences recognized in income as foreign exchange
gain or loss. Gains and losses arising from foreign currency transactions are reflected in income as
realized during the period.

Financial statements of foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on consolidation, are translated to TL at foreign exchange rates ruling at the date of the statement of
financial positions. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to TL using
average exchange rates. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognized directly in
a separate component of equity. When a foreign operation is disposed of in part or in full, the relevant
amount in the foreign currency translation reserve is transferred to in come.

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the consolidated financial statements of the Bank
and entities controlled by the Bank (its subsidiaries). The control exists if and only if; 1) when the
Bank has the power over an affiliate which that power, directly or indirectly, give rights to govern the
financial and operating policies of the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities, 2) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the affiliate, 3) the ability to use its power over the
affiliate to affect the amount of its returns. The Bank reassess its control power over its subsidiaries if
there is an indication that there are changes to any of the three elements of control.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is
transferred to the Group.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

= the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

* the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus

* if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest
in the acquiree; less

= the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing
relationships. Such amounts generally are recognised in profit or loss.

Transactions costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the
Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the
contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for
within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are
recognised in profit or loss.

Interests in equity-accounted investees

The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates and joint ventures.
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint
control, over the financial and operating policies. A joint venture is an arrangement in which the
Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than
rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

Interests in associates and the joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. They are
recognised initially at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of equity-accounted investees, until the date on which significant influence or
joint control ceases.

Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net

assets at the acquisition date. Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

10
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary, and any related non-controlling interests and other components of equity. Any resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at
fair value when control is lost.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted
investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there
is no evidence of impairment.

Acquisitions from entities under common control

Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control of the
shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented or, if later, at the date that common control was
established. The assets and liabilities acquired are recognised at the carrying amounts recognised
previously in the controlling shareholder’s consolidated financial statements. The components of
equity of the acquired entities are added to the same components within the Group equity and any
gair/loss arising is recognised directly in equity.

Group entities

Subsidiaries Direct ownership % Indirect ownership %
Country of 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Incorporation 2015 2014 2015 2014
Insurance Brokarage
Sigortayeri Sigorta ve Reasiirans Brokerligi A.S. Turkey 100.00% 100.00% - -
Pavment Systems
Epost Elektronik Perakende Otomasyon Satis Tic. A.S. Turkey 99.27% 99.27% - -
E-Kent Teknoloji ve Odeme Sistemleri San ve Tic, A.S. Turkey - - 99.27% 99.27%
N Kolay Magazacihik AS. Turkey - - 99.27% 99.27%
UPT Odeme Hizmetleri A.S. Turkey 100.00% 100.00% - -
Real Estate
Emlak Girisim Danismanhig A.S. Turkey 100.00% 100.00% -
Service
Pavo Teknik Servis Elektrik Elektronik Sanayi ve Ticaret A.§.  Turkey - - 79.42% 79.42%
Asset Aktif Sportif ve Sanatsal Etkinlik Hizmetleri Tic. A.S. Turkey - - 99.27% 99.27%
Equity accounted investees 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Country of Incorporation Ownership % Ownership %
Kazakhstan [jara Company Jsc Kazakhstan 14.31 % 14.31 %
IFM Istanbul Finans Merkezi Insaat Taahiiiit A.S. Turkey 5.00 % 5.00 %
Euroasian Leasing Company Republic of Tatarstan 25.00 % 25.00 %
Euro Mediterianean Investment Company Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus 21.28% -

11
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Interest income / expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to
the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. The effective interest rate is established on

initial recognition of the financial asset and liability and is not revised subsequently.

The calculation of the effective inferest rate includes all fees and commissions paid or received
transaction costs, and discounts or premiums that are integral part of the effective interest rate.

Interest income and expense on all trading assets and Habilities are considered to be incidental to the
Bank’s trading operations and are presented together with all other changes in the fair value of trading

assets and liabilities in net trading income.

Interest income and expense presented in profit or loss include the interest income on financial assets
and liabilities at amortised cost on an effective interest rate basis.

Fees and commission

Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial
asset or liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.

Other fees and commission income are recognised as the related services are provided.

Other fees and commission expense relates mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed
as the services are received.

Net trading income

Net trading income comprises gains less loss related to trading assets and liabilities, and includes all
realised and unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange differences.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive income is established.

Lease payments made

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease
expense, over the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and

the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

- Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the

remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

12
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Manufacturing and other operations revenue

Revenues are recognised on an accrual basis at the fair values incurred or to be incurred when the
goods are delivered, the risks and rewards of ownership of the goods are transferred, when the amount
of revenue can be reliably measured and it is probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the entity. Net sales represent the fair value of goods shipped less
sales discounts and returns. When the arrangement effectively constitutes a financing transaction, the
fair value of the consideration is determined by discounting all future receipts using an imputed rate of
interest. The difference between the fair value and the nominal amount of the consideration is
recognised in the period on an accrual basis as financial income.

Sales of the goods
Income obtained from the sales of the goods is accounted after the below conditions are executed:

= The Group’s transferring all the important risks and gains related to the property to the buyer,

®  The Group not having any control on the continued administrative participation associated with
property and on the sold properties,

= Measuring the amount of income reliably,

* Possibility of a flow of the economic benefits related to the act to the Group, and

»  Measuring the costs resuiting from the act reliably.

Services provided

Contract revenue and costs related to the projects are recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured and the increase in the revenue due to change in the scope of the contract related
with the project is highly probable. Contract revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Projects are fixed price contracts and revenue is recognised in accordance with
the percentage of completion method. The portion of the total contract revenue corresponding to the
completion rate is recognised as contract revenue in the relevant period.

13
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial assets and liabilities
Recognition

The Bank initially recognises loans and advances to customers, investment securities, funds borrowed,
customer accounts and debt securities issued on the date that they are originated. Regular way
purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date at which the Bank commits to
purchase or sell the asset. All other financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the trade
date at which the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Derecognition

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a
transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Bank is
recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled or expire.

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Bank has a legal right to set off the amounts and intends either to
settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted by the accounting standards, or
for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Bank’s trading activity.

Amortised cost measurement

The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability
is measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount
recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the
most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability
reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active
market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise
the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen
valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in
pricing a transaction.

14
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the
transaction price — i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines
that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is
evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a
valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the financial instrument is
initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial
recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognized in profit or loss on an
appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly
supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting
period during which the change has occurred.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into transactions with derivative instruments including forwards, swaps, currency
options and interest rate cap/floor agreements in the foreign exchange and capital markets. Most of
these derivative transactions are considered as effective economic hedges under the Group’s risk
management policies; however, since they do not qualify for hedge accounting under the specific
provisions of International Accounting Standard 39 — Financial instruments: Recognition and
measurement (“IAS 39”), they are treated as derivatives held for trading. Derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date which a derivative contract is entered into
and subsequently remeasured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on
derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in profit or loss.

Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in active markets, including recent market
transactions, to the extent publicly available, and valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow
models and options pricing models as appropriate. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value
is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

15
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‘Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
Identification and measurement of impairment

On each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired. Financial assets are impaired when objective
evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that
the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows on the asset that can be estimated reliably.

The Bank considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances and investment debt security
portfolio at both a specific asset and collective level, All individually significant loans and advances
and investment debt security portfolio are assessed for specific impairment. Loans and advances found
not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred
but not yet identified. Loans and advances that are not individually significant are collectively
assessed for impairment by grouping together loans and advances portfolio with similar risk
characteristics.

Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable data that
comes to the attention of the Bank about the following loss events:

= significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
» a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments by more
than 90 days;
= the Bank granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
* it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
= the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
= observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows
from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease
cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the Bank, including:
» adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers; or
» national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the Bank.

Impairment losses on assets carried at amortised cost are measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the financial assets and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the
assets’ original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an
allowance account against loans and advances.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale assets are recognised by transferring the cumulative loss that
has been recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.
The cumulative loss that is reclassified from other comprehensive income to profit or loss is the
difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortisation, and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security increases and
the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised
in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognised in profit or
loss. However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity
security is recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Identification and measurement of impairment (continued)

In assessing collective impairment, the Bank uses statistical modelling of historical trends of the
probability of default, the timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for
management’s judgment as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual
losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends. Default rates, loss rates and
the expected timing of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure
that they remain appropriate.

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a-group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively
assessed for impairment.

Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues
to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. The calculation of the
present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralized financial asset reflects the cash
flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not
foreclosure is probable.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, unrestricted balances with Central Bank and highly
liquid financial assets with original maturities of less than three months, which are subject to
insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Bank in the management of its
short-term commitments.

When the Bank purchases a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to resell the
asset (or a substantially similar asset) at a fixed price on a future date (“reverse repo or stock
borrowing™), the arrangement is accounted for as cash and cash equivalents, and the underlying asset
is not recognised in the Bank’s consolidated financial statements. Cash and cash equivalents are
carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position.

Trading assets and liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities are those assets and liabilities that the Bank acquires or incurs principally
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term, or holds as part of a portfolio that is
managed together for short-term profit or position taking.

Trading assets and liabilities are initially recognised and subsequently measured at fair value in the
statement of financial position with transaction costs taken directly to profit or loss. All changes in fair
value are recognised as part of net trading income in profit or loss. Trading assets and liabilities are
not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition.

Loans and advances fo customers

Loans and advances to customers are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market and that the Bank does not intend to sell immediately
or in the near term.

When the Bank is the lessor in a lease agreement that transfers substantially all of the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the lessee, the arrangement is presented within loans
and advances to customers.

Loans and advances to customers are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct
fransaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Investment securities

Investment securities are initially measured at fair value plus, incremental direct transaction costs, and
subsequently accounted for depending on their classification as either held-to-maturity or available-
for-sale.

(i) Held-to-maturity

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturity that the Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity, and which are not
designated as at fair value through profit or loss or as available-for-sale.

Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any
sale or reclassification of a more than insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments not close
to their maturity would result in the reclassification of all held-to-maturity investments as available-
for-sale, and prevent the Bank from classifying investment securities as held-to-maturity for the
current and the following two financial years.

(ii) Available-for-sale

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative investments that are designated as available-for-sale
or are not classified as another category of financial assets. Unquoted equity securities whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost. All other available-for-sale investments are
carried at fair value.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. Dividend income is
recognised in profit or loss when the Bank becomes entitled to the dividend. Foreign exchange gains
or losses on available-for-sale debt security investments except the equity securities are recognised in
profit or loss.

Other fair value changes are recognised directly in equity until the investment is sold or impaired,
whereupon the cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in equity are recognised in profit or
loss. '

Repurchase transactions

The Bank enters into purchases/sales of investments under agreements to resell/repurchase
substantially identical investments at a certain date in the future at a fixed price. Investments
purchased subject to commitments to resell them at future dates are not recognised. The amounts paid
are recognised as receivables from reverse repurchase agreements in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements. The receivables are shown as collateralized by the underlying security.
Investments sold under repurchase agreements continue to be recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position and are measured in accordance with the accounting policy for either assets held
for trading, held to maturity or available-for-sale as appropriate. The proceeds from the sale of the
investments are reported as obligations under repurchase agreements.

Income and expenses arising from the repurchase and resale agreements over investments are

recognised on an accruals basis over the period of the tfransaction and are included in “interest income”
or “interest expense”. -
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Trade receivables

Trade receivables that are created by way of providing goods or services directly to a debtor are
carried at amortised cost. Trade receivables, net of unearned financial income, are measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, less the unearned financial income. Short
duration receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount unless the
effect of imputing interest is significant.

A doubtful receivable provision for trade receivables is established if there is objective evidence that
the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due. The amount of provision is the difference
between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, being the present value of all cash flows,
including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the original
effective interest rate of the originated receivables at inception.

If the amount of the impairment subsequently decreases due to an event occurring after the write-
down, the release of the provision is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost elements included in
inventories are materials, labour and an appropriate amount for factory overheads. The cost of
borrowings is not included in the costs of inventories. The cost of inventories is determined on the
weighted average basis for each purchase. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and selling expenses. Inventories consist of

‘raw material, semi-finished goods, finished goods, commercial goods and other stocks.

Tangible assets

Recognition and measurement

Items of tangible assets are restated for the effects of inflation to 31 December 2003, less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Tangible assets acquired after 31 December 2005 is reflected at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of machinery or equipment is recognised in the carrying amount
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the
Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of tangible assets
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives

of each part of an item of tangible assets. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Tangible assets (continued)

Depreciation (continued)

The estimated useful lives for as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

= machinery or equipment  3-15 years

» furniture and fixtures 2-50 years
= motor vehicles 5 years
= other fixed assets 5-50 years

Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term
and their useful lives.

Intangible assets
(i) Service agreements

Service agreements acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. The service agreements have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected life of the
service agreements.

(ii) Software

Software acquired by the Bank is restated for the effects of inflation to 31 December 2005, less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Intangible assets acquired after 31 December 2005
are reflected at cost, less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Expenditure on internally developed software is recognised as an asset when the Bank is able to
demonstrate its intention and ability to complete the development and use the sofiware in a manner
that will generate future economic benefits, and can reliably measure the costs to complete the
development. The capitalised costs of internally developed software include all costs directly
attributable to developing the software, and are amortised over its useful life. Internally developed
software is stated at capitalised cost less accomulated amortisation and impairment.

Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as
incurred.

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the
software, from the date that it is available for use. The estimate useful life of software is 3 to 15 years.

20



3.19

3.20

AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SIRKETI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015

{Currency - In thousands of Turlish Lira {(“TL"))

Significant accounting policies (confinued)
Intangible assets (continued)
(iii}  Goodwill

Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries the excess of the cost of the acquisition over
the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of the acquiree. When the excess is negative (negative bargain), it is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests

Acquisition of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with equity holders in their
capacity as equity holders and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result of such transactions.

Subsequent measurement
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
{iv) Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from
goodwill where they meet the definition of an intangible asset and their fair value can be measured
reliably. Cost of such intangible assets is the fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets acquired separately.

Non-current assets held for sale

Certain non-current assets primarily related to the collateral collected on non-performing loans are
classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is
highly probable and the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management
must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale
within one year from the date of classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying value and fair value
less costs to sell.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Bank’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed
on each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds
its recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates
cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce
the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair
value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. ‘

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment Joss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Leased assets - lessee

Leases in terms of which the Bank assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to
the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that

asset.

Other leases are operating leases and, the leased assets are not recognised on the Bank’s statement of
financial position. '

Funds borrowed and debt securities issued

Funds borrowed and debt securities issued are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs,
and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Bank has approved a detailed and formal
restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly. Future
operating costs are not provided for.

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Bank
from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The
provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract
and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the Bank
recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.

Employee benefits

As a result of TAS 19 (2011), the Group has changed its accounting policy with respect to the basis for
determining the income or expense related to defined benefit,

Under IAS 19 (2011), the Group determines the net interest expense (income) for the period on the net
defined benefit liability by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at _
the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability at the beginning of the annual
period, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability during the period as a result
of contributions and benefit payments. Consequently, the net interest on the net defined benefit
liability now comprises:

= interest cost on the defined benefit obhgatlon
* interest income on plan assets; and

= interest on the effect on the asset ceiling.

As per revised IAS 19 all actuarial gain or losses are recognized under other comprehensive income
starting from 1 January 2013.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are payments to be made arising from the purchase of goods and services from

suppliers within the ordinary course of business. Trade and other payables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in
the profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted on the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of prior
years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred
tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the
temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date.

‘A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will

be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed on each reporting
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the
reporting dates (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes when material.

Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it

may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions
with any of the Group’s other components, whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the

Board of Directors (being chief operating decision maker) to make decisions about resources allocated

to each segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.
Borrowing Costs

The Group, whenever required, generates funds from domestic and foreign sources in the form of
borrowings, and bill and bond issuances in the local and international markets. The funds borrowed
are recorded at their purchase costs and valued at amortised costs using the effective interest method.

An entity shall capitalise borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. An entity shall recognise other
borrowing costs as an expense in the period in which it incurs them.

The bank has started a construction project to build a new head office that is an asset that necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale and capitalized the borrowing
costs amounting to TL 28,022 for the qualifying asset as of 31 December 2015 (2014: TL 12,157).
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Application of new and revised international financial reporting standards (IFRSs)

a)  Amendments to IFRSs affecting amounts reported and/or disclosures in the consolidated
Sinancial statements

None.

b)  New and Revised IFRSs applied with no material effect on the consolidated financial statements

Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions !

Anmual Improvements to IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 8 IFRS 13, IAS 16 and IAS 38,
2010-2012 Cycle I4S 241

Annual Improvements to

2011-2013 Cycle IFRS 1, IFRS 3, IFRS 13, IAS 40"

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014.
Amendments to 148 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

This amendment clarifies the requirements that relate to how contributions from employees or third
parties that are linked to service should be attributed to periods of service. In addition, it permits a
practical expedient if the amount of the contributions is independent of the number of years of service,
in that contributions, can, but are not required, to be recognised as a reduction in the service cost in the
period in which the related service is rendered -

Annual Improvements to 2010-2012 Cycle

IFRS 2: Amends the definitions of 'vesting condition' and 'market condition' and adds definitions for
‘performance condition' and 'service condition'.

IFRS 3: Require contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability to be measured at
fair value at each reporting date.

IFRS 8: Requires disclosure of the judgements made by management in applying the aggregation
criteria to operating segments, clarify reconciliations of segment assets only required if segment assets
are reported regularly.

IFRS 13: Clarify that issuing IFRS 13 and amending IFRS 9 and IAS 39 did not remove the ability to
measure certain short-term receivables and payables on an undiscounted basis (amends basis for

conclusions only).

JAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarify that the gross amount of property, plant and equipment is adjusted in a
manner consistent with a revaluation of the carrying amount.

IAS 24: Clarify how payments to entities prdvid'mg management services are to be disclosed.
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Significant accounting policies (confinued)

Application of new and revised international financial reporting standards (IFRSs) (continued)

b) New and Revised IFRSs applied with no material effect on the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

Annual Improvements to 2011-2013 Cycle

IFRS 1: Clarify which versions of IFRSs can be used on initial adoption (amends basis for
conclusions only).

IFRS 3: Clarify that IFRS 3 excludes from its scope the accounting for the formation of a joint
arrangement in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself.

IFRS 13: Clarify the scope of the portfolio exception in paragraph 52.

IAS 40: Clarifying the interrelationship of IFRS 3 and IAS 40 when classifying property as
investment property or owner-occupied property.

¢) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments ?

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts ! .

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisition of Interests in Joint operations *

Amendments to TAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation !

Amendments to IAS 16 and 1IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants '

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers *

Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements '

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Coniribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture !

Annual Improvements to

2012-2014 Cycle IFRS 5, IFRS 7, IAS 9, I4S 341

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative !

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and  Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception !

IAS 28

IFRS 16 Leases®

! Effective for anmal periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016,
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018,
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9, issued in November 2009, introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 was amended in October 2010 to include requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2013 to
include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another revised version of IFRS 9 was
issued in July 2014 mainly to include a) impairment requirements for financial assets and b) limited
amendments to the classification and measurement requirements by introducing a “fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Application of new and revised international financial reporting standards (IFRSs) (continued)
¢) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts permits an entity which is a first-time adopter of International
Financial Reporting Standards to continue to account, with some limited changes, for ‘regulatory
deferral account balances’ in accordance with its previous GAAP, both on initial adoption of IFRS and
in subsequent financial statements.

IFRS 14 was issued by the IASB on 30 January 2014 and is applies to an entity's first annual IFRS
financial statements for a period beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisition of Interests in Joint operations

This amendment requires an acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity constitutes
a business to;

. apply all of the business combinations accounting principles in IFRS 3 and other IFRSs, except
for those principles that conflict with the guidance in IFRS 11,
. disclose the information required by IFRS 3 and other IFRSs for business combinations.

Amendments to IAS 16 and 1AS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation

This amendment clarifies that that a depreciation method that is based on revenue that is generated by
an activity that includes the use of an asset is not appropriate for property, plant and equipment, and
introduces a rebuttable presumption that an amortisation method that is based on the revenue
generated by an activity that includes the use of an intangible asset is inappropriate, which can only be
overcome in limited circumstances where the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue, or
when it can be demonstrated that revenue and the consumption of the economic benefits of the
intangible asset are highly correlated. The amendment also adds guidance that expected future
reductions in the selling price of an item that was produced using an asset could indicate the

- expectation of technological or commercial obsolescence of the asset, which, in turn, might reflect a

reduction of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.
Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants

This amendment include ‘bearer plants’ within the scope of IAS 16 rather than IAS 41, allowing such
assets to be accounted for a property, plant and equipment and measured after initial recognition on a
cost or revaluation basis in accordance with TAS 16. The amendment also introduces a definition of
‘bearer plants’ as a living plant that is used in the production or supply of agricultural produce, is
expected to bear produce for more than one period and has a remote likelihood of being sold as
agricultural produce, except for incidental scrap sales, and clarifies that produce growing on bearer
plants remains within the scope of IAS 41.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Application of new and revised international financial reporting standards (IFRSs) (continued)
¢) Newand revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with
customers.

The five steps in the model are as follows:

. Identify the contract with the customer,

. Identify the performance obligations in the contract,

. Determine the transaction price,

. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts,

Recognise revenue when the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

This amendment permits investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates to be optionally
accounted for using the equity method in separate financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

This amendment clarifies the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from an investor to its
associate or joint venture.

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle

IFRS 5: Adds specific guidance in IFRS 5 for cases in which an entity reclassifies an asset from held
for sale to held for distribution or vice versa and cases in which held-for-distribution accounting is
discontinued.

IFRS 7: Additional guidance to clarify whether a servicing contract is continuing involvement in a
transferred asset, and clarification on offsetting disclosures in condensed interim financial statements.

IAS 9: Clarify that the high quality corporate bonds used in estimating the discount rate for post-
employment benefits should be denominated in the same currency as the benefits to be paid.

IAS 34: Clarify the meaning of ‘elsewhere in the interim report’ and require a cross-reference.
g
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Application of new and revised international financial reporting standards (IFRSs) (continued)
¢) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS I Disclosure Initiative

This amendment addresses perceived impediments to preparers exercising their judgement in
presenting their financial reports.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception :

This amendment addresses issues that have arisen in the context of applying the consolidation
exception for investment entities by clarifying the following points:

. The exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements for an intermediate parent
entity is available to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, even if the
investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value.

. A subsidiary that provides services related to the parent’s investment activities should not be
consolidated if the subsidiary itself is an investment entity.
. When applying the equity method to an associate or a joint venture, a non-investment entity

investor in an investment entity may retain the fair value measurement applied by the associate
or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries.

. An investment entity measuring all of its subsidiaries at fair value provides the disclosures
relating to investment entities required by IFRS 12.

IFRS 16 Leases

This new standard brings most leases on-balance sheet for lessees under a single model, eliminating
the distinction between operating and finance leases. Lessor accounting however remains largely
unchanged and the distinction between operating and finance leases is retained. IFRS 16 supersedes
IAS 17 “Leases™ and related interpretations and is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019, with earlier adoption permitted if IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers' has also
been applied.

The Group evalvates the effects of these standards, amendments and improvements on the
consolidated financial statements,

Use of estimates and judgements

Management decides to the development, selection and disclosure of the Bank’s critical accounting
policies and estimates, and the application of these policies and estimates.

These disclosures supplement the commentary on financial risk management (see note 6).
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Alowances for loan losses

Assets accounted for at amortised cost are evaluated for impairment on a basis described in accounting
policy 3.10.
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Use of estimates and judgements {continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty {continued)

Allowances for loan losses (continued)

The Bank reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment at least on a monthly basis. In determining
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the profit or loss, the Bank makes judgements as to
whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows from a portfolio of loans and individual loans. All loans with principal and/or
interest overdue for more than 90 days are considered as impaired and individually assessed. Other
evidence for impairment may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change
in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate
with defaults on assets in the Bank.

Due to the increase in the consumer loan portfolio of the Bank and the availability of the historical
trends of the probability of default, starting from 1 January 2012, the Bank started to provide
collective loan loss allowance established for groups of homogeneous assets in respect of losses that
have been incurred but have not been identified except for loans and receivables subject to individual
assessment for impairment. :

Determining fair values

The determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities for which there is no observable
market price requires the use of valuation techniques as described in accounting policy 3.10. For
financial instruments that require varying degrees of judgement depending liquidity, concentration,
uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument.
See also “Valuation of financial instruments™ below.

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Bank’s accounting policies
Critical accounting judgements made in applying the Bank’s accounting policies include:
Impairment of investment in equity securities

Investments in equity securities are evaluated for impairment on the basis described in accounting
policy 3.10. ‘

Valuation of financial instruments
The Bank’s accounting policy on fair value measurements is discussed in accounting policy 3.10.

The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of
the inputs used in making the measurements.

Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for identical instrument.

Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly
(i.e., derived from prices). This category includes instruments using valuation techniques where all
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all
instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the
unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on
quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. For all other financial instruments, the Bank
determines fair values using valuation techniques.
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Use of estimates and judgements (continued)
Critical accounting judgements in applying the Bank’s accounting policies (continued)

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models. Assumptions and
inputs used in valuation techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates. The objective of
valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the price of the financial
instrument at the reporting date that would have been determined by market participants acting at
arm’s length.

The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of common and
more simple financial instruments, like forwards and currency swaps that use only observable market
data and require little management judgement and estimation. Observable prices and model inputs are
usually available in the market for listed debt securities. Availability of observable market prices and
model inputs reduces the need for management judgement and estimation and also reduces the
uncertainty associated with determination of fair values. Availability of observable market prices and
inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to changes based on specific events
and general conditions in the financial markets.

This table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
period, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised:

At 31 December 2015 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Trading assets 11 - 1,459 7,812 - 9,271
Investment securities — AFS portfolio 12 660,229 114,680 - 774,909
661,688 122,492 - 784,180

Trading liabilities 11 - (9,848) - (9,848)
- (5,848) ‘ - (9,848)

At 31 December 2014 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Trading assets . 11 3,590 661 - 4,251
Investment securities — AFS portfolio 12 779,783 91,126 - 870,909
783,373 91,787 - 875,160

Trading liabilities 17 - (2,510) - (2,510
- (2,510) - (2,510)

Financial asset and liability classification

The Bank’s accounting policies provide scope for assets and liabilities to be designated on inception
into different accounting categories in certain circumstances:

In classifying financial assets and liabilities as “trading”, the Bank has determined that it meets the
description of trading assets and liabilities set out in accounting policy 3.10.
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Use of estimates and judgements {(continued)
Critical accounting judgements in applying the Bank’s accounting policies (continued)
Deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded using substantially enacted tax rates for the effect of
temporary differences between book and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Currently, there are
deferred tax assets resulting from operating loss carry-forwards and deductible temporary differences,
all of which could reduce taxable income in the future. Based on available evidence, both positive and
negative, it is determined whether it is probable that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will be
realized. The main factors which are considered include future earnings potential; cumulative losses in
recent years, history of loss carry-forwards and other tax assets expiring; the carry-forward period
associated with the deferred tax assets; future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences; tax-
planning strategies that would, if necessary, be implemented, and the nature of the income that can be
used to realize the deferred tax asset. If based on the weight of all available evidence, it is the Group’s
belief that taxable profit will not be available sufficient to utilize some portion of these deferred tax
assets, then some portion of or all of the deferred tax assets are not recognized. The Group has not
recognized deferred tax assets because it is in the development stage and it is not apparent that taxable
profit will be available sufficient to recognize deferred tax assets. If future results of operations exceed
the Group’s current expectations, the existing unrecognized deferred tax assets may be recognized,
resulting in future tax benefits.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating umits for which a reasonable and consistent -
allocation basis can be identified.
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Restatement of prior year financial statements

The Group’s consolidated financial statements presented comparatively with prior period in order to
allow financial position and performance trend analysis. If it is necessary, current period’s
consolidated financial statement presentations and comparative statements can be reclassified and
significant changes will be explained. The Group did not make any restatement or reclassification
related to its prior year financial statements.

Financial risk management
Introduction and overview

The Bank has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

=  credit risk

= liguidity risk

= market risks

= operational risks.

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Bank’s
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Bank’s management of
capital.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank’s
risk management framework. The Board has established the Audit Committee and Risk Management
Department, which are responsible for developing and monitoring Bank risk management policies in
their specified areas. The Audit Committee has non-executive members and report regularly to the
Board of Directors on their activities. ’

The Bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Bank, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions,
products and services offered. The Bank, through its training and management standards and

- procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment, in which all

employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Bank’s risk management
policies and procedures, and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation
to the risks faced by the Bank. The Audit Committee is assisted in these functions by Internal Audit.
Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls and
procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Bank’s loans and
advances to customers and other banks and investment securities. For risk management reporting
purposes, the Bank considers and consolidates all elements of credit risk exposure (such as individual
obligor default risk, country and sector risk).

For risk management purposes, credit risk arising on trading securities is managed independently, but
reported as a component of market risk exposure.

Management of credit risk

The Bank’s credit risk management strategy is based on a three-part methodology that embraces the
customer selection, credit allocation, and credit pricing stages. Since it was founded, the Bank has
always managed its credit risks by taking a portfolio-logic approach. This sums up the Bank’s basic
risk management strategy.
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6. Financial risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

In the first stage of the lending process, industry weightings are determined and firms that are seeking
credit are given a preliminary screening. This initial check is followed by the credit allocation stage in
which firms are individually rated and the Bank’s guarantee strategy is determined according to the
results of this rating. In the final stage of the lending process, prices are determined by taking a risk-
premium approach.

Exposure to credit risk

Cash at banks (excluding Loans and advances to
cash at Central Bank) Trade receivables customers Investment securities
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Carrying amount 216,299 155,337 100,308 15,135 4,638,261 3,983,292 930,741 887,838
Assets at amortised cost
Neither past due nor impaired
- Low risk 216,299 155,337 100,308 15,135 3,401,825 3,324,131 155,832 16,929
- Medivm risk - - - - 1,176,746 550,554 - -
- High risk - - - - 30432 41,620 - -
-Non graded - - - - - - ' - -
Non-performing financial assets - - 170 7,690 92,240 120,052 - -
Gross amount 216,299 155,337 100478 22,825 4,701,243 4,036,357 155,832 16,929
Allowance for impairment
- Individual impairment - - (170) (7,690) (48,939 {42,686) - -
- Collective impairment - - - - {14,043) (10,379) - -
Carrying amount )
amortised cost 216,299 155,337 100,308 15,135 4,638,261 3,983,292 155,832 16,929
Assets at fair value
Available-for-sale assets
Neither past due nor impaired
- Low risk - - - - - - 774,909 870,909
Carrying amount fair value - - - - - - 774,909 370,909
Total carrying amount 216,299 155,337 100,308 15,135 4,638,261 3,983,292 930,741 387,838
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Financial risk management {continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial assets and financial liabilities that:

= are offset in the Group’s statement of financial position; or
» are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement that covers similar
financial instruments, irrespective of whether they are offset in the statement of financial position.

The similar agreements include derivative clearing agreements. Similar financial insttuments include
derivatives. Financial instruments such as loans and funds are not disclosed in the tables below unless
they are offset in the statement of financial position.

Such collateral is subject to each agreement terms. The terms also give each party the right to
terminate the related transactions on the counterparty’s failure to post collateral.

The Bank receives and gives collateral in the form of cash in respect of the derivative transactions.

Financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and
similar agreements

Related amounts not offset in the statement
of financial position

Gross amounts of

Net amounts of

recognised financial
financial assets
Gross liabilities presented
amounts of offsetin the in the Financial
recognised statement statement instruments Cash
Types of financial financial of financial of financial  (including non- collateral Net
asscts assets position position  cash collateral) received amount
31 December Derivatives trading
2015 assets 7.812 - 7,812 (7,812) - -
31 December Derivatives trading
2014 assets 661 - 661 (661) - -
Related amounts not offset in the statement
of financial pasition
Gross amounts of  Net amounts of
recogmised financial
financial . liabilities
Gross assets presented
amounts of offset in the in the Financial
recognised statement statement instruments Cash -
Types of financial financial of financial of financial  (including non- collateral Net
liabilities liabilities position position cash collateral) received amount
31 December  Derivatives trading
2015 liabilities 9,848 - 9,848 (9,848} - -
31 December Derivatives trading
2014 liabilities 2,510 - 2,510 (2,510) - -
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Financial risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Impaired loans and advances to customers

Impaired loans and advances to customers are those for which the Bank determines that it is probable
that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due to according to the contractual terms of
the loans.

Allowance for impairment

The Bank establishes an allowance for impairment losses on assets carried at amortised cost that
represents its estimate of incurred losses in its loan. This allowance is a specific loss component that
relates to individually significant exposures.

Due to the increase in the consumer loan portfolio of the Bank and the availability of the historical
trends of the probability of default, starting from 1 January 2012, the Bank started to provide
collective loan loss allowance established for groups of homogeneous assets in respect of losses that
have been incurred but have not been identified except for loans and receivables subject to individual
assessment for impairment.

Write-off policy

The Bank writes off a loan balance, and any related allowances for impairment losses, when Bank
determines that the loan is uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information
such as occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s / issuer’s financial position such that the
borrower / issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be
sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.

Set out below is an analysis of the gross and net (of allowances for impairment) amounts of
individually impaired assets by risk grade.

Loans and advances to

customers
Gross . Net
31 December 2015
Individually impaired 92,240 43,301
31 December 2014
Individually impaired 120,052 77,366
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Financial risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The Bank holds collateral against loans and advances to customers in the form of mortgage interests
over machinery, other registered securities over assets, and guarantees.

Cash loans 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Against neither past due nor impaired
- Cash blockage 360 45,847
- Pledge on assets - 98,100
- Cheques and notes - -
- Shares - 19,287
Against past due but impaired
- Cash blockage - -
- Pledge on assets - 243
Against individually impaired
- Pledge on assets 8,728 63,796
Total 9,088 227,273

The Bank also holds collateral against non-cash loans as stated below:

Non-cash loans 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Cash blockage 15,927 15,247
Pledge on assets - 97,367

15,927 112,614

In addition to collaterals stated above, the Bank holds customer sureties amounting against its cash
loans and advances to customers and against its non-cash loans. '

Concentration risk by location

The Bank’s total risk for loans and advances to customers and investment debt securities (held-to-
maturity portfolic) is mainly concentrated on Turkey.
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Financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Concentration risk by sector

The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk for cash loans and advances to customer and non-cash

loans to customers by sector. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk at the reporting date is shown
below:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Cash Non-cash Cash Non-cash

Sector loans % loans % loans %o loans %
Construction 538,876 12 197,949 31 528,720 13 377,710 38
Financial imstitution 107,278 2 34 473 5 2,319 - 72,531 7
General services 1,601,819 35 - - 1,757,126 45 142,037 14
Media - - - - - - 5,383 1
Automotive 90,593 2 37,178 6 17,677 - 17,691 2
Textile - - - - - - 10,619 1
IT industry - - - - - - 1,044 -
Eleciricity industry - - 215,620 35 - - 3,450 -
Iron and steel industry - - - - - - 58,842 6
Public - - - - - - - -
Machinery and equipment - - - - - - 206 -
Energy industry 1,423 - 8,652 1 1,424 - 269,841 27
Trade 82,315 2 9,730 2 144,913 4 - -
Sports 601,185 13 1,600 - 125,384 3 13,529 1
Agriculture 47,888 1 - - - - - -
Other®™ 1,566,884 33 126,160 20 1,405,729 35 18,226 3

4,638,261 100 631,362 100  3,983292 100 991,169 100

®) Includes consumer loans, unclassified loans, factoring and leasing receivables.
Securitization

The Bank has established no Asset Backed Securitization Fund in 2015. (2014: The Bank has
established Asset Backed Securitization Funds named Aktif Yatinm Bankasi A.S. (7) No'lu Emek
Varlik Finansman Fonu and Aktif Yatirim Bankas: A.S. (8) No’lu Emek Varlik Finansman Fonu in
accordance with the communiqué of Capital Markets Board Serial: III No: 35 Principles Regarding
Asset Finance Funds and Asset Backed Securities. TL 363,206 portion of the Bank’s consumer loans
were transferred to the Asset Backed Securitization Fund and TL 14,642 of profit gained from the
transaction is accounted as “Gains on Sales of Assets™).

Securitised loans are derecognised following the transfer of assets, credit risks and rights related to the
transferred asset.

The Bank carries a guarantee risk due to securitization. TL 9,447 (31 December 2014: TL 19,015)
portion of the risk is accounted as blocked marketable security and measured with fair value.

Securitization position amounting to TL 81,845 exists as blocked marketable security (31 December
2014: TL 78,544).
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Financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its
financial liabilities.

Management of liguidity risk

The Bank’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Bank’s reputation.

The Bank funds its short-term liquidity with interbank. In the case of long-term liquidity need, the
Bank utilises capital market instruments. Additionally, the Bank also funds itself from the domestic
and foreign market when it needs additional funds.

Exposure to liqdidity risk

The key measure used by the Bank for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of net liquid assets to short-
term funds borrowed. For this purpose net liquid assets are considered as including cash and cash
equivalents and trading debt securities for which there is an active and liquid market less any short-
term funds borrowed and commitments. A similar, but not identical, calculation is used to measure the
Bank’s compliance with the liquidity limit established by the BRSA.

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Average for the year 127% 140%
Maximum for the year 167% 211%
Minimum for the year 102% 101%
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Financial risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Residual contractual maturities of financial liabilities

Gross More
: nominal than
Carrying inflow / On  Lessthan 1-3 3 months 5
Note amount (outflow) demand 1 month months  tol vear 1-Syears vears
31 December 2015
Non-derivative liabilities
Obligations under repurchase agr. 19 478,027 (478,594) - (468,808) (8,376) (1,410 - -
Debt securities issued 21 2,619,947  (2,659,843) - (1,267,695)  (1,248087)y (143,551 (510) -
Funds borrowed 20 2,508,185  (2,547,665) - (936,868) (880,262) (641415}  (89,120) -
Trade payables 130,340 (130,340) (130,340) - - - - -
Financial lease liabilities 39,485 (39,485) - - - - (39485 -
Customer accounts (¥) 24 282,623 (282,623) (282,623) - - - - -
Derivative financial instruments
Inflow 11 (7.812) 1,105,361 - 321470 534,339 246,320 3,732 -
Outflow 11 9,848  (1,112,316) - (320,967) (540,263) (247,350} (3,736) -
6,060,643  (6,145,005) (412,963) (2,672,868) (2,142,649) (787.,406) (129.119) -
) Included in other liabilities.
Gross More
nominal than
Carrying inflow / On Less than 1-3 3 months 3
Note amount (outflow) demand 1 month months  tol vear 1-5 years  years
31 December 2014
Non-derivative liabilities
Obligations under repurchase agr. 19 193,677 (193,933) - (192,211) (1,653) (69) - -
Debt securities issued 21 3,008,118  {3,051,811) - (1,439,823) (1,282,389) (313,243)  (16,336) -
Funds borrowed 20 1,509,958  (1,535,863) - (660,227} (375,720) (298,271} (201,645} -
Trade payables 35,085 (35,083) (35,085 - - - - -
Financial [ease liabilities 40,223 (40,223) - - - - (40,223} -
Customer accounts {*) 24 403,155 (403,155) (403,155} - - - - -
Derivative financial instruments
Inflow 11 (661) 604,555 - 569,090 17,486 17,979 - -
Qutflow 11 2,510 (606,917) - (560,459) (28,755) {17,703) - -
5,192,065 (5,262,432) (438,240) (2,283,630) (1,671,031)- (611,307) (258,224) -

®) Included in other liabilities.

The gross nominal inflow / (outflow) disclosed in the table above is the contractual, undiscounted cash

flow on the financial liability or commitment.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that, measured by changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices,
foreign exchange rates and credit spreads {(not relating to changes in the obligor’s / issuer’s credit
standing) which will affect the Bank’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.
The objective of market risk management is to manage and conirol market risk exposures within

acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

Overall authority for market risk is vested in Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCO™).
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Financial risk management (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Exposure to market risks — trading portfolios

The principal tool used to measure and control market risk exposure within the Bank’s portfolios is
Standard Method.

A summary of the Standard Method position of the Bank’s portfolios on 31 December 2015 and 2014
and during the period is as follows: -

At the end
of the year Average Maximum Minimum
31 December 2015
Foreign currency risk 2,313 1,603 3.324 517
Interest rate risk 18,884 18,410 21,391 15,378
Counterparty 2,562 2,159 3,794 426
Equity risk - 405 465 174
Commodity risk - S0 732 -
23,759 22,667 29,706 16,495
31 December 2014
Foreign currency risk : 760 420 1,242 142
Interest rate risk 17,204 13,901 16,774 10,613
Counterparty 944 2,148 3,861 977
Equity risk - 443 482 411
Commoedity risk 697 197 697 -
19,605 17,109 23,0656 12,143
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Financial risk management (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Exposure to interest rate risk — non-trading portfolios

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in
the future cash flows or fair values of financial instrument because of a change in market interest rates.
Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by having pre-
approved limits for repricing bands. The ALCO is the monitoring body for compliance with these
limits and is assisted by Risk Management Department of the Bank in its day-to-day monitoring
activities. A summary of the Bank’s interest rate gap position on non-trading portfolios is as follows:

More
Carrying On  Less than3 3-6 6-12 than 5
Note amount _ Unallocated demand months months months 1-5 yvears vears

31 December 2015
Cash and cash equivalents 9 451,605 - 228,414 221,191 - - - -
Reserve deposits at Central Bank 10 685,604 - - 683,604 - - - -
Trading assets n 1,459 - - 1,459 - - - -
Loans and advances to customers 13 4,638,261 - - 2,047,472 337,848 680,356 1,572,545 -
Investment securities 12 930,741 258 - 197.494 31,933 217.864 389.077 94,115
6,707,670 258 228,414 3,155.220 369,781 898,260 1,961,622 94115
Obligations under repurchase agr. 19 478,027 - - 476,636 1,391 - - -
Debt securities issued 21 2,619,947 - - 2,483,348 93,049 42,201 449 -
Financial lease liabilities 39,485 - - - - - 39,485 -
Funds borrowed 20 2,508,185 - - 1,813,438 267,750 358,716 68,281 -
5.645.644 - | - 4,773422 363.090 400.917 108,215 -
Interest rate gap 1,062,026 258 228,414 (1,618,202) 6,601 497,343 1,853,407 94,115
More
Carrying On Lessthan 3 3-6 6-12 than 5
Note amount  Unallocated demand months months months 1-5 years Years

31 December 2014
Cash and cash equivalents 9 286,470 - 165,441 121,029 - - - -
Reserve deposits at Central Bank 10 497,612 - - 497,612 - - - -
Trading assets 11 3,590 - - 3,590 “ - - -
Loans and advances to customers 13 3,983,292 - - 1,483,087 1,066,136 205,545 1,186,153 42,371
Investment securities 12 887,838 160 - 131.227 165.316 148.968 11,937 430.230
5,658,802 160 165,441 2,236,545 1,231,452 354,513 1,198,090 472,601
Obligations under repurchase agr. 19 193,677 - - 103,610 67 B B -
Debt securities issued 21 3,008,118 - - 2,694,495 168,985 129,500 15,138 -
Financial lease liabilities 40,223 - - - - - 44,223 -
Funds borrowed 20 1,509,958 - - 1,027,399 119,928 175,352 187.27% -
4,751976 - - 3,915,504 288,980 304,852 242 640 -
Interest rate gap 906,826 160 165441 (1,678,959 942,472 49,661 955450 472,601
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Financial risk management (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity

The management of interest rate risk against interest rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the
sensitivity of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities to various standard and non-standard interest
rate scenarios. Standard scenarios that are considered on a monthly basis include a 100 basis point (bp)
parallel fall or rise in all yield curves. An analysis of the Bank’s sensitivity to an increase or decrease
in market interest rates (assuming no asymmetrical movement in yield curves and a constant statement
of financial position) is as follows:

Profit or loss Equity
100 bp 100 bp 100 bp 100 bp
At 31 December 2015 increase decrease increase decrease
Investment securities - available-for-sale - ; (13,109) 13,109
- - (13,109) 13,109

Profit or loss Equity
100 bp 100 bp 100 bp 100 bp
At 31 December 2014 increase decrease increase decrease
Investment securities — available-for-sale - - (10,354) 10,548
- - (10,354) 10,548

Summary of average interest rates

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the summary of average interest rates for different assets and

Liabilities are as follows:

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Euro USD TL Euro USD TL
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 0.99 0.47 8.10 - - 5.25
Loans and advances to customers 8.6 9.28 17.44 8.31 8.41 15.88
Investment securities — AFS 3.66 5.58 932 4.17 5.17 8.51
Investment securities — HTM - - 8.63 - - 11.33
Liabilities
Obligations under repurchase agreements 1.24 2.10 7.86 1.32 2.02 7.13
Debt securities issued 23 2.70 12.91 2.84 3.01 11.19
Funds borrowed 0.74 2.37 13.72 2.56 2.56 14.07
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Financial risk management (continued)

Foreign currency risk

31 December 2015 Euro USD Other Total
Cash and cash equivalents 190,483 74,622 18,756 283,861
Reserve deposits at Central Bank 118,470 555,872 11,262 685,604
Loans and advances to customers 758,437 1,186,520 - 1,944,957
Investment securities — AFS 12,069 60,863 - 72,932
Equity accounted investees - 7,196 1,035 8,231
QOther assets 2,532 11,797 - 14,329
Trade and other payables - - - -
Funds borrowed (788,575) (1,521,465) (37,576) (2,347,616)
Obligations under repurchase agreements (6.429) (48,667) - (55,096)
Debt securities issued (128,281) (337,587) - (465,868)
Other liabilities (432,088) {158,766) (24,939) (615,793)
Net statement of financial position (273,382) (169,615) (31,462) (474,459)
Derivative financial instruments 274,077 184,888 33,077 492,042
Net total position 695 15,273 1,615 17,583
31 December 2014 Euro USD Other Total
Cash and cash equivalents 11,308 89,028 11,388 111,724
Reserve deposits at Central Bank 73,622 413,927 10,063 497,612
Loans and advances to customers 528,348 949,945 - 1,478,293
Investment securities — AFS 16,449 22,923 .- 39,372
Equity accounted investees - 7,196 4,292 11,488
Other assets 2,157 7,424 - 9,581
Trade and other payables (32) (47) - (79
Funds borrowed (233,783)  (1,088,424) - (1,322,207)
Obligations under repurchase agreements (2,317) (11,174) - {13,491)
Debt securities issued (189,101) (373,412) - (562,513)
Other liabilities {157,667) (129.458) (22.414) (309,539)
Net statement of financial position 48,984 (112,072) 3,329 (59,759
Derivative financial instruments (48,319) 104,637 (4,655) 51,663
Net total position 605 (7,435) (1,326) (8,096)
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Financial risk management {continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

A 10 percent weakening of TL against the foreign currencies on 31 December 2015 and 2014 would

have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis
assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

31 December 2015 Equity Profit or loss
Euro 70 51
UsD 1,527 1,706
Other currencies 162 162

1,75% 1,919
31 December 2014 Equity Profit or loss
Euro 67 (16)
UsD (744) (848)
Other currencies (133) (133)

(810) (997)

A 10 percent strengthening of the TL against the foreign currencies on 31 December 2015 and 2014
would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on
the basis that all other variables remain constant.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated
with the Bank’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other
than credit, market and liquidity risks, such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements
and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Bank’s
operations and are faced by all business entities. '

The operational risk items in the Bank are determined in accordance with the definition of operational
risk by considering as a whole processes, products and departments. The control areas are set for
operational risks within the Bank and all operational risks are followed by assigning the risks to these
control areas. In this framework, an appropriate monitoring methodology is developed for each control
area that covers all operational risks and control frequencies are determined.

All the operational risks that are exposed during the operations, the risk levels of the operations and/or
new products/services, together with the losses of the Bank arising from operational risks are regularly
monitored by the Risk Management Department of the Bank, and if deemed necessary, the risk levels
are updated and periodically reported to the Risk Committee and the Board of Directors.
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Financial risk management (continued)
Operational risk (continued)

The Bank calculated the value of operational risk in accordance with the fourth section regarding the
“Computation of Value of Operational Risk” of the circular, “Regulation on Measurement and
Assessment of Capital Adequacy of Banks” Communiqué published in the Official Gazette no. 28337
on June 28, 2012 and entered into force as of July 1, 2012, using gross profit of the last three years
2014, 2013 and 2012 (“the Basic Indicator Approach). The amount calculated as TL 41,630 as at 31
December 2015 (31 December 2014: TL 36,547) represents the operational risk that the Group may be
exposed to and the amount of minimum capital requirement to eliminate this risk. Value of operational
risk amounted to TL 520,375 (31 December 2014: TL 456,838) and is calculated as 12.5 times the
operational risk.

Capital management
The Bank’s lead regulator, BRSA sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank as a whole.

Capital adequacy ratio has been calculated in accordance with the “Regulation on Measurement and
Assessment of Capital Adequacy of Banks”, “Credit Risk Mitigation Techniques” and “Calculation of
Risk weighted Amounts for Securitizations” Communiqués that have been published in Official
Gazette no. 28337 on 28 June 2012 and became effective as of 1 July 2012 and "Regulation on Equity
of Banks" that has been published in Official Gazette no. 26333 on November 1, 2006.

Capital adequacy ratio is calculated based on total capital requirements needed for credit risk, market

risk and operational risk. Credit risk is calculated by holding risk-weighted assets and non-cash loans
subject to risk weights in the relevant legislation and taking risk mitigation techniques into account;
the standard method is used to calculate market risk and the basic indicator approach is used to
calculate operational risk.

Current capital legislation set by BRSA requires the Bank to maintain an 8% ratio of total capital to
total risk-weighted assets.

As at 31 December 2015, the Bank’s capital adequacy ratio is 13.60% (31 December 2014: 12.73%)).

Financial assets and liabilities
Accounting classification and fair values

The determination of fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities is based on quoted market
prices or dealer price quotations for financial instruments traded in active markets or valuation
techniques. However, the Bank expects no significant difference between the fair value and carrying
value of the financial instruments below since most of the financial instruments’ maturities are short-
term except for the loans and advances to customers and investment securities.

Valuation technique used for determining the fair value of the loans and advances to customers is net
present value model. Assumptions and inputs used in net present value model include benchmark
interest rates, credit spreads or other premium used in estimating discount rates. The fair value of the
investment securities is determined based on the quoted market prices. The objective of valuation
technique is to arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the prices of the loans and advances to
customers and investment securities at the reporting date that would have been determined by market
participants acting at arm’s length.
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As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015

(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL"))

Financial risk management (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Accounting classification and fair values (continued)

The table below sets out the Group’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities and
their fair values.

The fair value measurement for fixed rate loans and receivables are calculated by using the discounted
cash flow method and has been categorised as a Level 2 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation

technique used.

Other Total

Loans and Available- Held-to- amortised carrying
Note Trading receivables for-sale maturity cost amount Fair value

31 December 2015

Cash and cash equivalents 9 - 451,605 - - - 451,605 451,605
Trade and other receivables - - - - 100,308 100,308 100,308
Reserve deposits at Central Bank 19 - 685,604 - - - 685,604 685,604
Trading assets 11 9271 - - - - - 9271 9,271
Loans and advances to customers 13 - 4,638,261 - - - 4,638,261 4,608,316
Investment securities 12 - - 774,909 155,832 - 930,741 930,741
9,271 5,775470 774,909 155,832 100,308 6,815,700 6,785,845
Trading liabilitics 11 9,848 - - - - 0,848 9,848
Trade and other payables . . - - 130,340 £30,340 130,340
Financial lease liabilities - - - - 39,485 39,485 39,485
Obligations under rep. agr. 19 - - - - 478,027 478,027 478,027
Debt securities {ssued 27 - - - - 2,619,947 2,619.947 2,619,947
Funds borrowed 20 - - - - 2,508,185 2,508,185 2,508,185
9,848 - - - 5,775,984 5,785,832 5,785,832

Gther Total

Loans and Available- Held-to- amortised carrying
Note Trading receivables for-sale maturity cost amount Fair value

31 December 2014

Cash and cash equivalents 9 - 286,470 - - - 286,470 286,470
Trade and other receivables - - - - 15,135 15,135 15,133
Reserve depesits at Central Bank 19 - 497,612 - - - 497,612 497,612
Trading assets i 4,251 - - - - 4,251 4,251
Loans and advances to customers i3 - 3,983,292 - - - 3,983,292 3,971,572
Invesiment securities 12 - - 870,909 16,929 - 887,838 887,838
4,251 4,767374 870,909 16,929 15,135 5,674,598 5,662,878
Trading liabilities 1! 2510 - - - - 2,510 2,510
Trade and other payables - - - - 35,085 35,085 35,085
Financial lease liabilities - - - - 40,223 40,223 40,223
Obligations under rep. agr. 19 - - - - 193,677 193,677 193,677
Debt securities issued 21 - - - - 3,008,118 3,008,118 3,008,118
Funds borrowed 20 - - - - 1,509,958 1,509,958 1,509,958
2,510 - - - 4,787,061 4,789,571 4,789,571

Business combinations

In 2013, goodwill arising on acquisition of Pavo is TL 504 (2014: TL 504).

47



i

LLY6E - - - - - - - - - uoneioadac]
0E¥'SIT - - - - - - - - - jusunsaaul [eiden

suap WSS LYo
6¥9°955°L  (989°pgs) SEEIPIR 9%61°%¥S  LLYIE TOP095°L 856°LT9°1 ¥89°810°€ 1Z¥ 1r6 66E'TLG'T &ynba pue sapmqeyf jejo,
LISOLLT (99¢°TH) €81'CI8°] 065451 §£9°0€ 866°L29°1 866°LT9°1 - - - santIqey stpo pue Lpnby
TEee8L’s  (0TETHS) T61°8z2E’9 90YP6E  THO'I POS'TEE'S - ¥8O'RI0E 127 1#6 66E°TLET sanq e juowdag
6v9°955'L  (SLY'PRS) PIEIPI'S S8I'6PS  LL9'IE TOF095°L £9T°pE9 PEC'IOT'T  BPRO'8SH'E L18997'1 | SIassE 60,
0Z9'E 1L (g6€'6T1) £10Ckg Tresl 82E'5T £9TFE9 £9T'PEY - - - 12588 32110
LONA (L9g'zz1) B01°5E] - - g01°s€1 - R01°SE1 - - suopedropued Aynba ut sjusunsasuy
28z°0e8'0  (g18'2EE) £0T°E91°L £94°69€ 6P 160°16L°9 - 922'990°T 2F0'8SH'E L18°99T SI9SSE JUaEag
L96'ST (#£8°96) 108°ZT1 899°'cy (el $98°08 91L'%08) £60°58 8L190% {169°c) 183k Ay 0] owroduy )N
(€51°97) ¥80°¢ (LeToT) (1+1°8) 8hb #bs17) (S d} - - - S31ey) uonexe|,
0z1TS (816°66) 807251 60815 6LI'D 204201 (zLr‘esy £60°s8 SLI90S (169°<) suope.rado wo.y Jueday
(09¥'E66)  TO8'P8 (zoT'8L0°T) (8L8°+8T)  {0St91) {pEGOLL) (zL188y) (zgo'o1) (656°6L) (1LL°z61) asuadxa Supesndo
085°5¥0'1 (0zL'v81) 00£°0£T°1 £89°9¢8¢ 1LT¥1 TrE'6L8 000°s SZI°101 LET'98S 080°L81 swioout Supeado
eleg, sjuaw)snipy panLGuIoy FETTTTY) agdeapoag fupjueq Jupueq supjueq durjueq gupueq S10T

(L2 LR IO juawgsaauy  uredrod) ey

dun.aoday juamdag g

(C..7LL..) PAUT YSIYINL O SpUDSnoiy] uf - Aoua.rnsy)

STOT 12qUIRd3(] 1 POPUY 18X 1) I0J PUE J8 Sy
SHTIWIIR)G [RIOURUL PIJEPI[OSTO)) Y} 0] SIJON

SATIVIATSANS SLI ANV ILIMHIS WINONYV ISVINVE WRILLVA dILHV




4

L6S°LE - _ - - - - - M - uaneroaidag
FOLES _ - - - - - - - - jusunsaaut ended
sway JEawSas Jnpo

LIS1STY (Lo1'spD) F66'06F°0 L8107 P6EPE $ZL'09T"9 £E8'SSS] POE'LOL'T 06€98T°1 L6ITISY Aynbo pue sapqiqen (e,
LSTTOK] (zoL'eL 1) 656°009°1 9c1°¢S 0L6'TE £E8°56¢C°1 £E8'CSC’T - T - sanjiqel] oo pue Ajnbg
0LS'68L Y (59¥'99) L0958y 0ZTL8F1 YT 168 V0L - POELOL'T 06£°981°1 LOT 1181 sanig el juowdog
LT8°1ST9 (L9T1°SKT) F6696¥°9 9.8°10T P6E PE FTL097'9 SIF'ZSH 966°LLLT 859°69L°T 5SO°097°[ SJSST [£)0],
99.°¢5S (L16°08) £89°¥86 SE0°001 €ET'TE SI¥TSP SIFTSy - - - spsse.RYIO
9TTI1 (ze1'oon) LTI - - 3SEI LT - 86g 111 - - suohediorued -Aymba ul sjusunsaauy
sE8'9R0°C  (R1IPID £56'008°S 18101 191 1569695 - 8E9°999°] 859°69L°T £59°09T'1 sjasse Juawrdag
STL'EE (£91°6) 888'zH Gro'ee) (€18 05L08 (rLT'e8E) z79'6¥ 9ST'LEE 9rI'LL JuaL 21)) 10§ awoaul JoN
(PILL) [ (19Tt} S6L'S £O¥°1 (6SH'F1} (6st'r1) - - - a1kl UONEXE],
6EF T (01LS) 6PI'LY [(CZHTR] orz'y) 607°56 (s18°89¢E) T79°6h 95T°LEE 9pI°LL suoneiado woay swodug
(615789) 6TTOI11 (8bL°86L) (1zi’sT) (368%91) (6£0'959) (s18°0%) (Es0°1€) {g9g 101} (8r9'811) asuadxa SunemdQ
8S6'ETL (6E6'1ZD) L68°SHR LT6'ER TR9°01 38T 15L 000'9¢ SL90% 618°8¢k P6LS61 awoout SupesdQ
€101, sjuamysnipy pauIquIo)) EETTiTs) ased0ig sujueq Junjueq gupeq supusq supueq F10T

1wol, ID[IC) junusaau] - urodio) 19y

(ponutjuoo) Sunyroday Juawsag

((.. 7L} piry yspang fo spuvsnoys uy - Auzu‘t:.uv
ST0T 13quuaddx(J [€ PIPUH L3 X 1) JI0J PUE JE SY

SHUIUIL)S [RIJURUL PIJEPI[OSHO)) Y} 0) SIJON

SAMMVIAISENS SLI ANV LLIAIS WINONYV ISVINVE WIIILVA A1LMV

'8




10.

AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SIRKETIi AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015

(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL"))

Cash and cash equivalents

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Cash and balances with Central Bank 235,306 131,133
- Cash on hand 12,115 7,947
- Unrestricted balances with Central Bank 223 191 123,186
Placements with other banks 216,299 155,337
Cash and cash equivalents 451,605 286,470
Less: Interest income accruals on cash and cash equivalents (245) (11}
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 451,360 286.459
Reserve deposits at Ceniral Bank
31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Foreign currency 685,604 497,612
685,604 497,612

According to the regulations of the Central Bank of Turkish Republic (the “Central Bank™), banks are

mandatory reserves are not available for use in the Bank’s day to day operations.

. obliged to reserve a portion of certain liability accounts as specified in the related decree. Such

The banks operating in Turkey keep reserve deposits for Turkish currency and foreign currency
liabilities in TL and USD or EUR at the rates of 5-11.5% and 5-25%, respectively according to their
maturity terms as per the Communiqué no. 2005/5 “Reserve Deposits™ of the Central Bank of Turkey
(31 December 2014: 5-11.5% for TL and 6-13% for USD or EUR).

Starting from November 2014, interest is paid on reserve requirements held in Turkish Lira and
Starting from May 2015 interest is paid on reserve requirements held in Foreign Currency.
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11.

AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SIRKETI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015

{Currency - In thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL"))

Trading assets and liabilities

Trading assets

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Trading securities
- Investment funds 1,459 3,590
Derivative assets
- Foreign exchange 7,812 661
-Swap contracts 7,438 464
-Forward contracts 374 197
-Options - -
9,271 4,251
Trading liabilities
31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Derivative liabilities
- Foreign exchange 9,848 2,510
-Swap contracts 9577 596
-Forward contracts 271 1,914
-Options - -
9.848 2,510

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, no trading securities are kept for legal requirements and as a

guarantee for stock exchange and money market operations.

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, no trading debt securities pledged under repurchase agreements.

On the reporting date, the total notional amount of outstanding derivative financial instruments

contracts to which the Bank is committed are as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Forward foreign exchange contracts — buy (*) 79,740 188,757
Forward foreign exchange contracts — sell (*) 79,536 177,138
Swap foreign exchange contracts — buy 908,546 312,186
Swap foreign exchange contracts — sell 915,204 313,194
Option contracts — buy 117,575 86,807
Option contracts — sell 117,576 86,806
Future contracts — buy - 16,805
Future contracts — sell - 29,779

®  Includes spot and forward transactions
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AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SIRKETI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015
(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL"))

Investment securities

31 December 2015

Interest Carrying
rate % Latest maturity amount
Held-to-maturity investment securities
- Government bonds 7.33-8.45 24 February 2016 143,624
- Corporate bonds 5.27-12.29 28 December 2018 12,208
Available-for-sale investment securities
- Government bonds 1.16-10.77 15 Janumary 2030 660,229
- Corporate bonds 1.00-6.12 18 December 2020 114,680
930,741
31 December 2014
Interest Carrying
rate % Latest maturity amount
Held-to-maturity investment securities
- Corporate bonds 9.1-12.5 28 December 2018 16,929
Available-for-sale investment securities
- Govermnment bonds 4.2-11.4 24 December 2024 779,944
- Corporate bonds 7.0-20.8 28 December 2018 90,965
887,838

As at 31 December 2015, TL 98,856 and TL 487,810 of investment securities are given as collateral
for performing transaction at stock exchange and repurchase agreement, respectively (31 December
2014: TL 83,610 and TL 196,270, respectively).

As at 31 December 2015, TL 81,845 investment securities are blocked for asset backed securitisation

funds (31 December 2014: TL 78,544).

Loans and advances to customers

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, all loans and advances to customers are recognized at amortised

cost.
Gross Impairment Carrying Gross  Impairment Carrying
amount allowance amount amount allowance amount
31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Corporate customers:

- Finance ]Jeases - - - - - -
- Other lending 4,701,243 (62,982) 4,638,261 4.036,357 {53,065) 3,983,292
Corporate loans 3,380,748 (3,882 3,376,866 2,733,219 (8,054) 2,725,165
Consumer loans 1,320,495 59,100y 1,261,395 1,303,138 (45,011) 1,258,127

Factoring receivables - - - - - -
4,701,243 (62,982) 4,638,261 4,036,357 (53,065) 3,983,292

52



AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SIRKETI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015
(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Liva (“TL"))

Loans and advances to customers (continued)

Allowance for impairment

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Allowances for individual impairment
Balance on 1 January 42,686 54,145
Impairment loss for the year 6,253 (11,459
- Charge for the year 25,231 24.726
- Recoveries (18,978) (36,185)
Balance on 31 December 48,939 42,686
Allowances for collective impairment
Balance on 1 January 10,379 8,184
Impairment loss for the year 3,664 2,195
- Charge for the year 3,664 2,195
Balance on 31 December 14,043 10,379
Total allowances for impairment 62,982 53,065

Finance lease receivables

None (2014: None).
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AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SIRKETI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015

(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL"})

Equity accounted investees

Carrying amount of equity accounted investees is summarized below:

31 December 2015

31 December 2014
Kazakhstan Ijara Company Jsc. 6,599 8,101
[FM Istanbul Finans Merkezi ingaat Taahhiit A.S. - -
Aktif Yatirim Bankas: Sukuk Varlik Kiralama A.S.(*) 100 100
Eurasian Leasing Company 1,905 3,025
Company Euro Mediterranean Investment 4,137 -
Equity accounted investees 12,741 11,226

O Aktif Bank Sukuk Varlik Kiralama A.S. (“VKS”) engages in the operating activities of issuance of Sukuk.
According to IFRS 10, the Company shall have the major effect on the financial statements of the parent
company. On the other hand, VKS does not have the major effect on the founder of Bank’s financial
statements required to be consolidated power, variable power and variable returns to affect returns in order to
considered in the consolidation. VKS does not comply with consolidation requirements of IFRS 10. Thus it is

not being consolidated in the financial statements as at 31 December 2015 and 2014.

The Group’s share of income in its equity accounted investees for the year ended 31 December 2015 is

TL 1,640 (31 December 2014: TL 695).

Summary financial information for equity accounted investees, not adjusted for the percentage

ownership held by the Group is as follows:

Ownership Total

: Total Profit/ (loss)

2015 (%) assets liabilities  in the year
Kazakhstan Ijara Company Jsc. 14.31 49472 3,358 11,203
IFM Istanbul Finans Merkezi Insaat Taahhiit A.S. 5 359,230 358,518 (68)
Aktif Yatirim Bankasi Sukuk Varlik Kiralama A.S. 100 7,654 7,471 64
Eurasian Leasing Company 25 9,036 1,416 (447)
Company Euro Mediterranean Investment 21.28 19,672 59 700
. Ownership Total Total Profit/ (loss)

2014 (%) assets liabilities  in the year
Kazakhstan [jara Company Jsc. 14.31 59,995 710 4,790
Aktif Yatirmm Bankas1 Sukuk Varlik Kiralama A.S. 100 107,659 107,540 6
Eurasian Leasing Company 25 9,434 1,239 431
IFM Istanbul Finans Merkezi Insaat Taahhiit A.S. 5 370,847 370,158 (234)
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AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SIRKETI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015
(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL™))

Tangible assets

Machinery Furniture
and and Leasehold Motor Construction Other fixed

equipment fixtures improvements vehicles in progress assets Total
Cost
Balance on I January 2014 41,347 6,093 3,670 3z 104,819 41,427 197,388
Additions 10,561 14,457 6,466 46 - - 31,530
Transfers to intangible assets (16,320} (3,082) (965) - (1,738) - (22,105)
Capitalized borrowing costs - - - - 12,157 - 12,157
Transfers 11,766 - - - 29,661 (41,427 -
Balance on 31 December
2014 47,354 17.468 2,171 78 144,899 - 218,970
Balance on 1 January 2015 47,354 17,468 9,171 78 144,899 - 218,970
Additions 19,521 6,422 1,975 61 40,442 283 68,704
Transfers to intangible assets (1,512) (1,196) - - (252) - (2,960)
Capitalized borrowing costs - - - - 15,865 - 15,865
Disposals - (2,663) (564) - (23,859 - (27,086)
Balance on 31 December
2015 65,363 20,031 10,582 139 177,095 283 273493
Depreciation and
impairment
Balance on [ January 2014 9,470 2,902 2,803 7 - 256 15,438
Depreciation for the year 13,938 6,610 1,077 2 375 - 22,002
Transfers to intangible assets (10,132) (1,153) 417 - (375) - (12,077
Transfers 255 - - - - (255) -
Disposals - - - - - (1 (1)
Balance on 31 December
2014 13,531 8,359 3,463 9 - - 25,362
Balance on 1 January 2015 13,531 8,359 3,463 G - - 25,362
Depreciation for the year 13,420 3,842 1,353 6 - (970) 17,651
Disposals - (1,155) (84) - - - (1,239
Balance on 31 December
2015 26,951 11,046 4,732 15 - (970) 41,774
Carrying amounts .
Balance on 1 January 2014 31,877 3,191 867 25 104,819 41,171 181,950
Balance on 31 December 2014 33,823 9,109 5,708 69 144,899 - 193,608
Balance on 31 December 2015 38,412 8,985 5,850 124 177,095 1,253 231,719

The Bank has started a construction project to build a new head office that is an asset that necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale and capitalized the borrowing
cost amounting to TL 28,022 for the qualifying asset as of 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014:

12,157).
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16.

AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SIRKETI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015

(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL”})

Intangible assets

Computer
Software programme  Rights (*) Total

Cost

Balance on 1 January 2014 19,586 25,064 29,868 74,518
Additions:

-Purchases 9,184 71 38,538 47,793
-Internally developed - 5,381 - 5,381
Transfers from property and equipment - - 22,105 22,105
Balance on 31 December 2014 28,770 30,516 90,511 149,797
Balance on 1 January 2015 28,770 30,516 90,511 149,797
Additions: '

-Purchases 12,199 4,233 24,370 40,802
-Internally developed - 5,924 - 5,924
Disposals - (2.558) (6,856) (9,414)
Transfers from property and equipment 252 ~ 2,708 2,960
Balance on 31 December 2015 41,221 38,115 110,733 190,069
Amortisation and impairment

Balance on 1 January 2014 4,539 8,358 1,965 14,862
Transfers from property and equipment - - 12,077 12,077
Impairment charges for the year - - 4,126 4,126
Amortisation for the year 1,757 81 13,757 15,595
Balance on 31 December 2014 6,296 8,439 31,925 46,660
Balance on 1 January 2015 6,296 8,439 31,925 46,660
Impairment charges for the year - - 5,298 5,298
Amortisation for the year 2,703 7,192 11,831 21,826
Disposals - (789) (6,856) (7,645)
Balance on 31 December 2015 8,999 14,842 42,298 66,139
Carrying amounts

Balance on 1 January 2014 15,047 16,706 27,903 59,656
Balance on 31 December 2014 22,474 22,077 58,586 103,137
Balance on 31 December 2015 32,222 23,273 68,435 123,930

As of 31 December 2014, TL 36,332 of rights conmsist of public-to-private service concession
arrangements of E-Kent with various municipalities accounted in accordance with IFRIC 12 Service
Concession Arrangement”.

There is no capitalised borrowing cost related to the internally developed software during the year
(2014: None).

(*) A ten-year General Contract dated 27 August 2013, has been signed between the Bank and
Turkish Football Federation (TFF) about the E-Ticket System which will be used for the entrance of
the sport halls in Sport Clubs’ league matches. Within the scope of the contract, the Bank has
capitalized TL 12,946 amount as intangibles which was paid to Football Clubs in return of the consent
for ticketing. As of the balance sheet, following the TFF acceptances of the stadiums in the E-Ticket
System, the Bank has paid TL 93,321 to TFF, TL 9,705 has been recognized as an expense, and the
rest TL 83,616 has been classified under other assets that will be recognized as an expense in the
upcoming years during the E-Ticket System will be used.
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AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SIRKETI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015

(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Lira (“"TL"))

17. Other assets

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Fund service fee accrual 43,179 48,073
Prepaid expenses 93,829 36,916
Suspense accounts 9,429 28,526
Advances given 90,806 36,488
Guarantees given 9,466 5,621
Credit card accounts 1,453 9,804
Assets to be disposed-off (*) 69,868 -
Others 32,398 8,946
350,428 174,374

(*) TL 69,868 assets to be disposed-off which was recognized in assets held for sale in the prior year has been transferred to

other assets in the current year,

18. Assets held for sale

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Balance at 1 January 69,868 -
Transfer (69,868) 69,868
Balance at 31 December - 69,868

19. Obligations under repurchase agreements
31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Obligations under repurchase agreements-TL 380,393 180,186
Obligations under repurchase agreements-FC 55,096 13,491
Money market fundings-TL 42,538 -
478,027 193,677

20. Funds borrowed

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Domestic banks — TL 3,056 2,777
Domestic banks - Foreign currency 369,994 213,088
Foreign banks — TL 148,868 184,974
Foreign banks — Foreign currency 1,986,267 1,109,119
2,508,185 1,509,958

21. Debt securities issued

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, all debt securities issued are at amortised cost.

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Debt securities issued-TL 2,154,079 2,445,605
Debt securities issued-FC 465,868 562,513
2,619,947 3,008,118
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AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SIiRKETi AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015

(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL"))

Debt securities issued (continued)

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Nominal of debt securities issued 2,947,745 3,211,464
Unaccrued interest expense (327,798) (203,346)
2,619,947 3,008,118

In 2015, the Bank issued TL debt securities with maturities between 4 January 2016 and 20 January
2017 (2014: 2 January 2015 and 18 August 2015). The interest rate for TL debt securities is between
11%-14% (2014: 10%-13.75%).

In 2015, the Bank issued USD denominated debt securities with maturities between 4 January 2016
and 31 October 2016 (2014: 2 January 2015 and 14 November 2016). The interest rate for foreign
currency debt securities is between 3%-5% (2014: 0.50%-4.60%).

In 2015, the Bank issued EUR denominated debt securities with maturities between 4 January 2016
and 14 November 2016 (2014: 2 January 2015 and 16 June 2015). The interest rate for foreign
currency debt securities is between 2%-3% (2014: 1.50%-3.34%).

Taxation

General information

The Bank is subject to taxation in accordance with the tax procedures and the legislation effective in
Turkey.

In Turkey, effective from 1 January 2006 corporate tax rate is 20%. The tax legislation provides for a
temporary tax of 20% to be calcnlated and paid based on earnings generated for each quarter. The
amounts which are calculated and paid are offset against the final corporate tax liability for the year.

Corporate tax losses can be carried forward for a maximum period of five years following the year in
which the losses were incurred. The tax authorities can inspect tax returns and the related accounting
records for a refrospective maximum period of five years. Corporate tax returns are required to be filed
by the twenty-fifth day of the fourth month following the year-end balance sheet date and taxes must
be paid in one instalment by the end of the fourth month.

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the current tax liability is as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Income tax liability 16,442 17,144
Prepaid taxes (12,948) (17,709)
Inceme taxes payable ) 3,494 (565)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, the income tax expense recognised in profit or loss
and income tax recognised directly in equity are as follows:

Recognised in profit or loss

2015 2014
Current tax expense from continuing operations (13,419} {10,634)
Deferred tax from continuing operations (12,734) 2,920
Total income tax (26,153) (7,714)

58



22,

AKTIF YATIRIM BANKASI ANONIM SIRKETI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the Year Ended 31 December 2015

(Currency - In thousands of Turkish Lira (“TL"'}}

Taxation (continued)

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Reconciliation between tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by the statutory income tax
rate of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

Rate Rate

2015 % 2014 Yo
Profit for the year 25,967 33,725
Total income tax expense 26,153 7,714
Profit before income tax 52,120 41,439

Income tax using the domestic
corporation tax rate 20%
Non-deductible expenses
Intra-group sales income

Tax exempt income

(10,424) {20)

(7,848)  (15.06)
(10,649)  (20.43)
2,768 531

(8,288)  (20.00)
(5,448)  (13.15)

6,022 14.53

Total income tax in the profit or loss

(26,153) (50.18)

(7,714)  (18.62)

Deferred tax

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

The deferred tax included in the statement of financial position and recognised in profit or loss and in

equity are as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Assets  Liabilities Net Assets  Liabilities Net

Available-for-sale

investment securities 309 - 309 92 - 92
Retirement pay liability 898 - 898 865 - 865
Unused vacation liability 524 - 524 713 - 713
Tangible assets and

intangible assets 615 (10,794) (10,179) - (7,726)  (7,726)
Bonus provision 1,683 - 1,683 2,671 - 2,671
Unearned income commissions - - - 81 - 81
Tax losses carried forward 5,788 - 5,788 7,853 - 7,853
Prepaid expenses - (141) (141) - {1,432y  (1,432)
Other 4,562 {6,817y (2,255) - (725) (725)
Deferred tax 14,379 - (17,752 (3,373) 12,275 (9,883) 2,392

Expiration schedule of carry forward tax losses is as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Expiring in 2015 - -
Expiring in 2016 1,121 1,121
Expiring in 2017 2,661 2,661
Expiring in 2018 1,412 1,412
Expiring in 2019 - 18,956 34,071
Expiring in 2020 4,792 -
Total 28,942 39,265
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Taxation {continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position are as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Deferred tax assets 7,039 12,273
Deferred tax liability (10,412) {9.883)
(3,373) 2,392
Movements in temporary differences during the year
Recognised
Opening in profit Recognised in Clesing
31 December 2015 balance or loss equity balance
Available-for-sale
investment securities 92 (6,623) 6,840 309
Retirement pay liability 865 280 129 1,274
Unused vacation liability 713 (565) - 148
Tangible assets and
intangible assets (4,290) (3,583) - (7.873)
Bonus provision 2,671 (988) - 1,683
Uneamed income commissions 81 (81) - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (3,436) 1,130 (2,306)
Tax losses carried forward 7,853 “(2,065) - 5,788
Prepaid expenses (1,432) 1,291 - (141)
Other (725) (1,530) - (2,255)
2,392 (12,734) 6,969 (3,373)
Recognised
Opening in profit Recognised in Closing
31 December 2014 balance or loss equity balance
Available-for-sale
investment securities 319 854 (1,081) 92
Retirement pay liability 354 511 - 865
Unused vacation liability 438 275 - 713
Tangible assets and
intangible assets (1,043) (3,247) - (4,290)
Bonus provision 3,528 (857 - 2,671
Unearned income commissions 224 (143) - 81
Acquisition of subsidiaries (4,565) 1,129 (3,436)
Tax losses carried forward - 7,853 - 7,853
Prepaid expenses - (1,432) - (1,432)
Other 1,298 (2,023) - (725)
553 2,920 (1,081) 2,392
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Provisions

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Bonus provision 8,415 17,000
Provision for possible losses 15,000 5,000
Employee termination benefits 4,493 4,324
Vacation pay liability 2,619 3,570
Other 6,465 89
Total 36,992 29,983

®IAs at 31 December 2015, the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position includes a free provision
amounting to TL 15,000 provided by the Bank management in line with conservatism principle considering the
circumstances which may arise from any changes in the econemy or market conditions (31 December 2014: TL 5,000).

Employee termination benefits

In accordance with existing social legislation in Turkey, the Group is required to make lump-sum
payments to employees whose employment is terminated due to retirement or for reasons other than
resignation or misconduct. In Turkey, such payments are calculated on the basis of 30 days’ pay
(limited to a maximum of TL 3.83 and TL 3.43 on 31 December 2015 and 2014, respectively) per year
of employment at the rate of pay applicable on the date of retirement or termination. In the
consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group reflected a liability
calculated using the hypothetical method and based upon factors derived using their experience of
personnel terminating their services and being eligible to receive retirement pay and discounted by
using the current market yield on government bonds on the reporting date.

The principal actuarial assumptions used on the reporting dates are as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Discount rate 10.80% 8.60%
Inflation rate 7.75% 6.00%

The movement in provision for employee termination benefits is as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Upening balance 4,324 1,771
Interest cost 112 277
Service cost 1,424 1,929
Payment during the year {1,904) (444}
Actuarial difference 537 791
Balance at the end of the year 4,493 4,324
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Other liabilities

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Intermediary payment account 428,278 -
Customer accounts 282,623 403,155
Blocked amounts " 57,650 56,392
Expense accrual 5,928 14,120
Taxes and due payable 16,065 13,666
Suspense accounts 11,518 10,997
Payables to compulsory government funds 2,687 2,424
Uneamned income 11,642 870
Cash collaterals received 6,557 328
Credit card accounts 7,283 15,583
Other 9,773 18,251

_ 840,004 535,786
) The Bank is not entitled to collect deposits, The customer accounts represent the current balances of loan customers. As
at 31 December 2015, there are no time customer accounts (31 December 2014: None).

© (**) The balance is resulted from wage payment accounts blocked till the date of wage payment (31 December 2014: None).

Capital and reserves

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Number of common shares, TL 1,000 {in full TL), par
value (Authorised and issued) 862,585 697,085

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, all issued shares are fully paid and there is no preference shares
assigned to shareholders of the Bank. '

Share capital and share premium

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the composition of shareholders and their respective percentage of
ownership are summarised as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Amount Y% Amount %
Calhk Holding A.S. 857,621 99.42 693,074 99.42
Calk Denim Tekstil San. ve Tic. A.S. 2,628 0.30 2,123 0.30
Ahmet Cahk 1,168 0.14 944 0.14
Bagak Yonetim Sistemleri A.S. 584 0.07 472 0.07
Irmak Yonetim Sistemleri A.S. 584 0.07 472 0.07
Total paid-in-capital 862,585 100.00 697,085 100.00
Restatement effect per IAS 29 4,510 4,510
Total share capital 867,095 701,595

At the extraordinary general meeting dated 18 December 2015, the Bank's paid-in capital of TL
697,085 reaches TL 862,585 with an increase of TL 165,500 , which consist of TL 89,131 from
extraordinary reserves and TL 76,369 from retained earnings (31 December 2014: None).
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Capital and reserves (continued)
Reserves
Fair value reserve

This reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale investment
securities until the investment is derecognised or impaired.

Other reserves
Other reserves consist of legal reserves and other restricted reserves.

The legal reserves consist of first and second legal reserves in accordance with the Turkish
Commercial Code. The first legal reserve is appropriated out of the statutory profits at the rate of 5%,
until the total reserve reaches a maximum of 20% of the entity’s share capital. The second legal
reserve is appropriated at the rate of 10% of all distributions in excess of 5% of the entity’s share
capital. The first and second legal reserves are not available for distribution unless they exceed 50% of
the share capital, but may be used to absorb losses in the event that the general reserve is exhausted. In
the accompanying consolidated financial statements, the total of the legal reserves are amounting to
TL 20,007 (31 December 2014: TL 15,970).

According to the Corporate Tax Law, 75% of the capital gains arising from the sale of tangible assets
and investments owned for at least two years are exempted from corporate tax on the condition that
such gains are reflected in the other restricted reserves in equity with the intention to be utilised in a
share capital increase within five years from the date of the sale. The remaining 25% of such capital
gains are subject to corporate tax. As at 31 December 2013, the Bank has transferred a gain from sale
of investment amounting to TL 25,660 to the other restricted reserves in equity.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations.

Transactions under common control

100% of EPost was acquired from parents of the Company in the previous year. The acquired
subsidiary, EPost could be treated as an integrated operation of E-Kent by nature or by transfer of
knowledge, were under common control with E-Kent since the beginning of their operations. The
acquisition of this entity being under common control is accounted for using book values, where in its
consolidated financial statements the acquirer, is permitted, but not required, to restate its
comparatives as if the combination had been in existence throughout the reporting periods presented.
This application is based on the management judgment that this treatment is the best way to present
the economic substance of the transaction since the transaction is moving the shares of one party from |
one part of the group to another, there is no independent third party involvement and in particular the
purchase price is not determined on an arm’s length basis. Management decided not to restate its
comparative information. )

Excess of net assets over cash paid is recognised in “Transactions under common control” directly in
equity.
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26. Netinterest income

2015 2014
Interest income
Loans and advances to customers 588,672 501,434
Investment securities 76,679 54,632
Cash and cash equivalents 8,553 3,923
Other 16,825 987
Total interest income 690,729 560,976
Interest expense
Debt issued 272,729 220,210
Funds borrowed 76,779 60,470
Money market transactions 33,043 30,654
Other 780 11,020
Total interest expense 383,331 322,354
Net interest income 307,398 238,622

*) Includes interest income from factoring receivables,
27. Net fee and commission income

2015 2014
Fees and commission income
Fund service fee income ‘ - 27,430
Financial guarantee contracts issued 9,277 12,170
Remittance fee 12,255 10,288
Intermediary commissions 57,879 1,278
Commitment fee 1,553 826
Insurance fee (¥) 733 g1
Delivery fee - 4,559 -
Other 5,562 6,025
Total fees and commission income : 91,818 58,098
Fees and commission expense
Clearance commissions 19,283 15,966
Credit card commissions 7,093 2,650
Financial guarantee contracts issued 919 1,058
Other 5,375 4,561
Total fees and commission expense 32,670 24,235
Net fees and commission income ‘ 59,148 : 33,863

(*) As of 30 June 2014, the Group has transferred the insurance business portfolio that is managed by the Bank to Sigortayeri.

28. Net trading loss

2015 2014
Foreign exchange gain (1,808) 10,874
Trading account income 13,908 9.405
Loss from derivative financial instruments {16,032) (30,933)
Total (3,932) (10,654)
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Sales income and cost of services

Sales income:

2015 2014
Revenue from sale of goods 93,489 41,678
Insurance commission income (*) 11,758 10,639
Transaction and storage commission income 29,149 8.666
Revenue from license fee 1,265 2,141
Revenue from cash register POS 56,751 12,749
Revenue from sales of match ticket 13,563 9,092
Other sales income 9,873 3,868
Total .' 215,848 88,833
(*) As of 30 June 2014, the Group has transferred the insurance business portfolio that is managed by the Bank to Sigortayeri.
Cost of services:
2015 2014
Personnel expenses 13,677 129,615
Depreciation and amortization expenses 7,287 20,563
Cost of merchandises sold 61,113 - 8,154
Dealer commission and other commission expenses - 15,992 7,470
Cost of cash register POS 51,033 11,538
Cost of match ticket sales 11,720 8,557
Rent expenses 4,333 2,821
Maintenance expenses ) 8,750 1,430
Consultancy expenses 978 1,328
Other expenses 23,334 9,454
Toial 198,217 100,930
Other income
2015 2014
Reversal of general provisions 5,000 27,000
Gain on sale of assets 10,646 ' 14,642
Asset-backed security profit sharing 863 252
Other (*) . 29,034 4,211
Total 45,545 46,105

(*) Amounting TL 27,783 is resulted from a collection from a customer recognized in non-performing loan in prior year.

Net impairment on financial assets

2015 2014
Individual impairment for loans 6,253 (11,459)
Collective impairment provision for loans 3,664 2,195
Individual impairment for trade receivables 170 7,690
Total 10,087 (1,574)
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32. Personnel expenses

2015 2014
Wages and salaries 128,809 94,940
Bonus expenses 10,394 12,788
Social security premiums 13,160 9,146
Employee termination indemnity and vacation pay liability 3,582 2,021
Other 12,684 6,993
Total 168,629 - 125,888

33. Administrative expenses

2015 2014
Publicity expenses 25,903 19,832
Consultancy expenses . 10,045 15,878
Communication expenses 8,351 13,126
Outsource expenses ‘ 9,896 12,216
Expenses on vehicles 7,038 8,288
Rent expenses 20,734 7,628
Taxes and dues other than on income 9,891 7,556
Maintenance expenses . 7457 1,547
‘Others 24,757 20,172
Total 124,072 106,243
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Other operating expenses

2015 2014
Provision for possible losses 15,000 -
Marketing expenses 6,582 4,610
Other 18,750 2,828
Total 40,332 7,438
Related parties

Parent and ultimate controlling party

The Bank is éontrélled by Calik Holding A.S. which owns 99.42% of ordinary shares (31 December

2014:99.42%).

Compensation of key management personnel of the Bank

Total salaries and other benefits paid to the Board of Members and top management during the year is

TL 17,564 (31 December 2014: TL 25,323).

Balances with related parties

Related party
31 December 2015 bhalances Total balance Rate (%)
Loans and advances to customers -2,148,273 4,638,261 46,32
Other liabilities (Customer accounts) 115 288,873 0.04
Debt securities issued 389 2,619,947 0.01
Related party
31 December 2014 balances Total balance Rate (%)
Loans and advances to customers 2,007,911 3,983,292 50.41
Other liabilities (Customer accounts) 15413 403,155 3.82
Debt securities issued - 3,008,118- -
Off statement of financial position balances with related parties
Related party
31 December 2015 balances Total balance Rate (%)
Non-cash loans 339,544 631,362 - 53.78
Related party
31 December 2014 bhalances Total balance Rate (%)
Non-cash loans 456,490 991,109 46.06
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Related parties (continued)

Transactions with related parties

36.

37.

2015 2014

Interest income on loans 265,109 317,951
Fee and commission income 22332 11,496
Rent expenses 10,923 4,117
Other 2,990 2,995

Commitments and contingencies

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Letters of guarantee ' 601,878 867,655
Letters of credit 18,384 53,728
Acceptance credits - 263
Other guarantees 10,600 69,463
Total non-cash loans 631,362 991,109
Check limits 1,188 1,235
Other commitments 2,799,377 3,158,625
Total 3,431,927 4,150,969

Subsequent events

In 2016, Board of directors of UPT Odeme Hizmetleri A.S. has decided to establish a company in
Netherlands with the trade name of "Universal Payment Transfer B.V." and the capital of EUR

150,000, and the entire capital to be paid by UPT Odeme Hizmetleri A.S.
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